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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Good morning, and

          3  welcome. I am Mr. Lloyd Henry, I am the Chairman of

          4  the Council Subcommittee on Immigration. I am

          5  pleased to welcome you here today for this most

          6  important hearing, which will address the

          7  immigration and naturalization service policy in

          8  relation to green card expirations and renewals.

          9                 Since 1989, the INS has been issuing

         10  Alien Registration Cards, also known as green cards,

         11  with 10-year expiration dates. The agency claims

         12  that a new ten-year expiration dates are intended to

         13  provide an opportunity for updating of photos and

         14  facilitate the implementation of new technologies

         15  that will increase the Card's resistance to

         16  counterfeiting. By its own estimates, as many as

         17  660,000 lawful permanent residents with 10-year

         18  green cards will need to renew those cards within

         19  the next 12 to 14 months. According to the INS,

         20  improved procedures will be put in place to make the

         21  renewal process more accessible to eligible persons

         22  and gradually reduce the waiting time for a new

         23  green card.

         24                 In some jurisdictions the agency

         25  plans to implement walk-in one-stop procedures
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          2  whereby applicants will receive a temporary

          3  certificate of permanent residency while awaiting

          4  their green card renewal. In others, like New York,

          5  Newark and Chicago, mail-in procedures will also be

          6  in effect.

          7                 However, substantial questions

          8  remain, hence today's hearing. This is a matter of

          9  vital importance and considerable urgency for the

         10  thousands of lawful permanent residents who will be

         11  affected in New York City alone during the coming

         12  months. We are yet to receive from the INS a clear

         13  policy directive governing this expiration and

         14  renewal procedure.

         15                 Among the issues about which

         16  advocates and service providers have expressed

         17  concern are the following.

         18                 Why should lawful permanent residents

         19  wait for up to 12 months to renew their new green

         20  cards, particularly since the INS has had ten years

         21  to prepare for this procedure and claims to have the

         22  ability to produce temporary cards on the spot?

         23                 Will the INS use this opportunity to

         24  conduct an immigration eligibility review on these

         25  applicants who have already been in the United
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          2  States for the past 10 years?

          3                 How much will this green card renewal

          4  process cost? Has the INS received special funds to

          5  conduct this program or will the agency be diverting

          6  resources from existing services? If so, which

          7  services will be affected by the diversion of funds?

          8  Will the INS be hiring additional personnel to carry

          9  out this renewal program? If so, how many and at

         10  what cost?

         11                 How will this renewal program affect

         12  the already substantial backlog in processing of

         13  applications for new green cards, adjustment of

         14  status and persons awaiting naturalization as

         15  citizens?

         16                 How soon will this new procedure take

         17  effect?

         18                 Is there any possibility that this

         19  Green Card Renewal Process may or can be used to

         20  exclude or deport persons who are already lawful

         21  permanent residents of the United States?

         22                 In preparing for today's hearing, the

         23  Council has invited, among others, representatives

         24  of the Immigration and Naturalization Service. In

         25  our letter to Commissioner Doris Meissner, dated
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          2  October 25th, 1999, we appealed to her discretion

          3  and her authority to designate an appropriate

          4  representative who can provide relevant details of

          5  the agency's plans for the Green Card Renewal

          6  Process. Our Counsel, Mr. Carl Smith, reiterated our

          7  concerns in this matter in formal correspondence to

          8  Ms. Barbara Huey, Director of Intergovernmental

          9  Relations at the INS in Washington, D.C.

         10  Specifically we requested of the INS that they

         11  provide us a copy of the program or policy directive

         12  setting out in detail the green card renewal

         13  process; the program or policy directive promulgated

         14  in 1989, which established a 10-year limit on green

         15  card use; details in relation to the public outreach

         16  campaign in specified cities, and a list of

         17  designated representatives of the INS who will

         18  provide oral and written testimony at today's

         19  hearing.

         20                 Regrettably, at the close of business

         21  last Wednesday, November 10, the INS had failed to

         22  respond affirmatively to any of these requests. In

         23  fact, Ms. Huey informed us that it was unlikely that

         24  a representative of the agency would be available,

         25  as they were still engaged in internal discussions
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          2  on this matter. I would like to place on the record

          3  our disappointment in the INS not being represented

          4  here in any form, shape or fashion, given the

          5  gravity and the nature of this hearing.

          6                 I just learned awhile ago that a

          7  letter was faxed yesterday, or this morning -- on

          8  Wednesday to my office, and I would like to just ask

          9  our counsel, Mr. Carl Smith, to read this letter

         10  from the INS into the record.

         11                 MR. SMITH: Before I read this

         12  statement into the record, I would like to say that

         13  we had extensive discussions with the INS, I thought

         14  we would have a representative here today. It is not

         15  our policy to read statements into the record which

         16  are not ours. They should have showed us the

         17  courtesy of sending a representative in.

         18                 However, I think we will extend them

         19  the courtesy of reading the statement into the

         20  record. But, again, we are very disappointed that

         21  they are not here because we have very pertinent and

         22  very specific questions to ask them.

         23                 I have a statement dated November

         24  10th, 1999. It is from the US Department of Justice,

         25  Immigration and Naturalization Service.
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          2                 It is addressed to the Honorable Dr.

          3  Lloyd Henry, the Council of the City of New York,

          4  City Hall, New York New York.

          5                 "Dear Dr. Henry, thank you for

          6  inviting a representative from the Immigration and

          7  Naturalization Service to participate in a public

          8  hearing on the Green Card Renewal Process. As this

          9  issue will have an impact on a significant number of

         10  legal permanent residents, we share your concern

         11  that accurate procedural information will be widely

         12  disseminated.

         13                 Unfortunately, the INS is not able to

         14  send a representative to this particular meeting. We

         15  would like to submit this statement of current basic

         16  procedures for the record and request that we might

         17  be able to present more refined procedures

         18  specifically for New York residents after they are

         19  finalized at a mutually convenient date.

         20                 In the fall of 1989, the INS began

         21  issuing green cards with 10-year expiration dates

         22  indicated on the front of the card to address a

         23  growing problem with fraudulent green cards. The

         24  10-year renewable cards were instituted at a point

         25  when INS could utilize improved technology to design

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  and produce counterfeit-resistant cards.

          3                 The 10-year lifecycle for the card

          4  was established as a compromise between a number of

          5  factors among them, an estimate that it would take

          6  counterfeiters approximately seven years to breach

          7  some of the new security features, an estimate of

          8  how long a green card could be carried and still be

          9  machine readable, allowance of a sufficient period

         10  for a green card holder to qualify and apply for

         11  naturalization without having to renew his or her

         12  card, and a desire to avoid inconveniencing green

         13  card holders more than was absolutely necessary.

         14                 INS estimates that up to 660,000

         15  lawful permanent residents who will need to renew

         16  their green cards during the next 12 to 14 months.

         17                 Legal permanent residents will not

         18  lose their permanent resident status when the card

         19  expires.

         20                 However, they are required by law to

         21  carry evidence of their status and with an expired

         22  card may find difficulties in obtaining employment

         23  benefits and reentry into the United States from

         24  abroad.

         25                 Procedures are in place to
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          2  accommodate green card renewal applicants and ensure

          3  a one-stop service. Which means that applicants will

          4  only need to visit their local INS office once, if

          5  their application is complete and correct.

          6                 To begin the process, applicants need

          7  a form I90, application to replace a permanent

          8  resident card, which they can obtain by calling the

          9  INS toll free forms request line, at 1-800-870-3676,

         10  or by accessing the INS web site at

         11  www.INS.USDOJ.GOV.

         12                 As mail-in application procedures

         13  have been established for New York, applicants

         14  should mail their completed form I90, but should not

         15  include their expiring green card. Along with their

         16  application, they should send $110 filing fee, a

         17  front and back photo copy of the expiring green

         18  card, and two photographs as specified in the form

         19  I90 instructions.

         20                 The mailing address for the New York

         21  District is, USINS, New York District, Attention I90

         22  Unit, 26 Federal Plaza, New York, New York 10278.

         23                 Upon receiving a complete application

         24  the district office will schedule renewal applicants

         25  for an office appointment so that an applicant can
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          2  submit the expiring green card in person and receive

          3  a temporary proof of status.

          4                 Applicants who require temporary

          5  documentation before their scheduled appointment may

          6  request it from the district office. With these

          7  basic procedures, we hope to make the renewal

          8  process run as smoothly as possible. When we have

          9  finalized the remaining details for the New York

         10  area, we will contact you and disseminate the new

         11  procedures broadly.

         12                 I look forward to speaking with you

         13  in the future.

         14                 Sincerely, Barbara Huey, Acting

         15  Director of Community and Intergovernmental

         16  Programs, INS.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Smith.

         19                 I know you will join with me in

         20  saying that this is not good enough because this is

         21  information that we already had at our disposal.

         22                 I would just, again, for the record,

         23  leave some of the questions that we would have posed

         24  to the INS.

         25                 The first is, do you have a detailed
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          2  plan in place to deal with the massive numbers of

          3  current and impending green card expirations?

          4                 If not, do you think a complete plan

          5  will be in place?

          6                 In your press release, dated

          7  September 8th, 1999, you mention that a public

          8  outreach campaign will begin in New York, Newark,

          9  Chicago, San Francisco, Houston, San Antonio, and El

         10  Paso; what are the specifics of the outreach

         11  campaign? Is the INS hiring additional staff to

         12  handle the processing of green card renewals?

         13                 According to your press release, the

         14  renewal process is a two-step procedure, consisting

         15  of a mail-in application and an office appointment.

         16  What is the purpose of the office appointment? Is

         17  this an additional layer of review?

         18                 In 1989 why were green cards issued

         19  with a 10-year expiration date?

         20                 What was the policy rationale behind

         21  this decision, and were written directives put in

         22  place?

         23                 Why didn't you fully anticipate the

         24  large numbers of persons affected by the 10-year

         25  green card expirations, and have a plan in place to
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          2  deal with this issue?

          3                 Are you Y2K compliant, or will the

          4  existing problems in relation to backlog be

          5  compounded on January 1st, 2000?

          6                 What is your agency's total budget?

          7  Give us a breakdown of the budget pertaining to the

          8  Green Card Renewal Program?

          9                 And, finally, how much of the

         10  agency's budget is spent on detaining and

         11  deportation matters?

         12                 These are some of the questions which

         13  I think that we were interested in having answers

         14  to.

         15                 Well, hopefully at our next hearing

         16  they will be forthcoming in person to present their

         17  statement.

         18                 MR. SMITH: Let me just emphasize

         19  again that we had several conversations with the

         20  INS, and those are questions, the questions that

         21  were just posed by Council Member Henry, were

         22  questions that need to be answered. I mean, those

         23  are the questions that have not been answered by

         24  INS. Their contention is that they are working on

         25  the program as we speak. However, there are 660,000
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          2  people that are affected by this. And the first

          3  class of people began being affected approximately a

          4  month or two ago.

          5                 So, it is something that the INS

          6  should have prepared for. They should have a program

          7  and a plan in place, and I find it unconscionable

          8  that they don't have anything in writing, they

          9  haven't submitted anything to us, and they don't

         10  have the respect of the body of the Council to send

         11  a representative in to testify and answer questions.

         12                 That is something that has to be

         13  looked into further and we intend to pursue this

         14  very vigorously.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Smith.

         18                 Before we proceed with our first

         19  testimony, I should like to reintroduce Mr. Carl

         20  Smith, who is the Counsel to the

         21  Subcommittee on Immigration. Mr. Rick Arbello, who

         22  is our new Policy Analyst. Also, Mr. Hugh Hamilton,

         23  who is our Legislative Director, and seated among

         24  the audience, Mr. Jim Ulsanka, who is Legislative

         25  Aid, popping in and out from time to time is Mr.
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          2  Vaughn Toni, our Chief of Staff.

          3                 Welcome, again, and we will proceed

          4  with our first testimony.

          5                 Again, if you wish to testify, could

          6  you kindly complete one of these forms in advance

          7  and hand it to the Sergeant-At-Arms who is Mr.

          8  Carmine Filacomo.

          9                 Ms. Angelica Tang is no stranger to

         10  us. We do thank her and the Mayor's Office, that she

         11  represents, Immigrant Affairs, for always coming

         12  before this Subcommittee and testifying on behalf of

         13  the Administration.

         14                 Before you proceed with your

         15  testimony, could you again introduce yourself and

         16  anyone who is present with you.

         17                 MS. TANG: Good morning. I am Angie

         18  Tang, Executive Director of the Mayor's Office of

         19  Immigrant Affairs and Language Services. Our office

         20  is the leading liaison agency within the City of New

         21  York, working with immigrants, promoting immigrants'

         22  rights and providing information and services to

         23  immigrants about immigration-related matters.

         24                 With me is Deputy Director Popov of

         25  my office, and also our Immigration Specialist, Dr.
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          2  Madeline Truss, who deals with the day-to-day

          3  constituency work with immigrants.

          4                 Again, I thank you for the

          5  opportunity to appear before you, Councilman Henry.

          6  Today I have been asked by your Subcommittee on

          7  Immigration to testify about the INS policy on green

          8  card expirations and renewals.

          9                 And as you would hear later from my

         10  testimony, it would touch on several of the concerns

         11  and questions that you have addressed today in your

         12  opening statement. And then I will be happy to

         13  answer any questions afterwards.

         14                 In mid-1989, the U.S. Immigration and

         15  Naturalization Service began to issue green cards

         16  with a 10-year expiration date. About 600,000 are

         17  said to expire nationally this year. The new cards

         18  have updated security features to prevent

         19  counterfeiting, including a digital photograph and

         20  fingerprint images on the front, as well as

         21  holograms and an optical memory strip encoded with

         22  biographical information on the back.

         23                 In July of this year, INS advised the

         24  New York Chapter of the American Immigration Lawyers

         25  Association and other immigration advocates, that
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          2  immigrants should send in their I-90 renewal forms

          3  at least 60 days before expiration of their cards.

          4                 By mid-August in the summer, press

          5  stories began to appear describing long lines at the

          6  Chicago and Los Angeles INS office.

          7                 In August 1999, Associated Press

          8  article tells of immigrants turned away after

          9  spending several hours on a line at the Chicago

         10  District Office because it could only process 1,000

         11  immigrants per day for green card renewals.

         12                 In Lost Angeles, about 200 people per

         13  day stood in line for renewals.

         14                 Immigrants' concerns are that once

         15  their green cards expire they will be out of status,

         16  and rather than send in by mail an I-90 renewal form

         17  to INS, they would much rather prefer to wait for

         18  hours on a line that may not accommodate them at all

         19  on that day or any other day.

         20                 Immediately after these stories

         21  appeared in the press, the Mayor's Office of

         22  Immigrant Affairs contacted the Community Relations

         23  and Public Affairs Units of the New York District of

         24  INS, asking if INS had planned to issue any written

         25  guidelines or procedures about expiring green cards.
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          2  As of August 25th, INS had no plans to issue

          3  anything in written form.

          4                 Between that day and September 8th,

          5  which was when INS national and the New York

          6  District office issued statements regarding green

          7  card renewals, the Mayor's Office related to its

          8  constituents verbal information provided by the

          9  Community Relations Unit of INS: 1) anyone with an

         10  expiring green card should submit an I-90 with the

         11  appropriate fee; and 2) use the Notice of

         12  Action/Receipt to demonstrate that the immigrant is

         13  in status.

         14                 The latter is a particularly

         15  important document, in light of a backlog now, in

         16  green card protection, for it not only states that

         17  the application was received, but it also states

         18  that the person's adjustment of status has been

         19  approved.

         20                 As I mentioned earlier, immigrants

         21  are concerned that when their green cards expire,

         22  their status expires. The Notice of Action, along

         23  with the expired green card, indicates that the

         24  immigrant is in status.

         25                 On September 8th, two months after
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          2  initial inquiries had been made by immigration

          3  advocates, INS finally issued a release and

          4  guidelines about expiring green cards.

          5                 The two-month lead time cited in July

          6  was changed to six months.

          7                 Detailed instructions for obtaining

          8  and mailing in the forms were provided in the press

          9  release, as you read in your statement, as well as

         10  in-person procedures.

         11                 On the same day, New York INS issued

         12  a statement referred to the national press release

         13  and providing a local address for mailing

         14  applications.

         15                 Although the New York District never

         16  made any official proclamations about refusing

         17  walk-ins, representatives from the New York district

         18  had informed the New York Chapter of the American

         19  Immigration Lawyers Association that unless there

         20  was an emergency, the renewal should be done by

         21  mail.

         22                 Green card renewals and the initial

         23  mixed messages concerning them continue to add to an

         24  already very overextended system. There was a surge

         25  in citizenship applications in 1996, as you all
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          2  know, due to both immigrant reaction to the

          3  immigration and welfare reform bills passed by the

          4  U.S. Congress and the fact that immigrants who were

          5  amnestied in 1986 were beginning to be eligible for

          6  citizenship.

          7                 INS increased fees for both green

          8  card and citizenship applications, but has not hired

          9  any additional workers to adjudicate either.

         10                 Indeed, INS' priority is to

         11  adjudicate the citizenship applications, and green

         12  card caseworkers have been transferred to the

         13  Naturalization Unit to process the backlog.

         14                 The 10-year green card expiration

         15  exacerbates this backlog of approximately 300,000

         16  adjustment of status applications and 300,000

         17  citizenship applications awaiting adjudication now

         18  in the New York district.

         19                 In addition, about 120,000

         20  citizenship cases that were filed in the New York

         21  district in 1996 and 1997 were virtually dropped

         22  from the INS computer system and are being processed

         23  manually.

         24                 Forty-thousand of these files are in

         25  New York and 80,000 have been transferred to the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  Vermont Service Center. This is problematic because

          3  virtually all alien registration cards are processed

          4  through the Vermont Service Center.

          5                 The New York District Office of INS

          6  is currently reporting that I-90, green card renewal

          7  applications, are being receipted in three days,

          8  unless they are walked in and processed within 21

          9  days after receipt.

         10                 The Vermont Service Center is

         11  reporting that it is taking from 240 to 360 days to

         12  produce replacement cards, and the Nebraska Service

         13  Center has advised the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         14  Affairs that once it receives a file for card

         15  production, it will take from six to 12 months for

         16  the immigrant to receive a card.

         17                 Our office has observed, however,

         18  that it is taking constituents longer than 12 months

         19  to receive green cards. We have received telephone

         20  calls from immigrants who have been waiting three

         21  years for green cards.

         22                 In addition, there are problems with

         23  the software package at the Nebraska Service Center

         24  that is producing the green cards, and often times

         25  they have to be destroyed because pictures or
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          2  fingerprints are not legible.

          3                 Understanding INS' backlog, our

          4  office has advised constituents with expiring green

          5  cards to mail in their applications. We have also

          6  advised immigrants to download the application form

          7  from the NIS web site, and have encouraged them to

          8  visit the public libraries for Internet access,

          9  explaining to them that it will be easier to go to a

         10  library than to stand in line for hours at 26

         11  Federal Plaza, or call the INS toll free number for

         12  forms which is frequently busy.

         13                 Although the New York INS District

         14  Office was responsive to the concerns raised by the

         15  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs regarding green

         16  card renewals, during the summer, the fact that it

         17  took considerably long time for written guidelines

         18  to be released raises another set of concerns.

         19                 Moreover, the backlog in green card

         20  production for both renewals and new legal permanent

         21  residents made our office aware of another problem

         22  that we have begun to resolve.

         23                 Late last spring, the Mayor's Office

         24  of Immigrant Affairs began to receive telephone

         25  calls from City University of New York students who
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          2  were legal permanent residents but had not received

          3  permanent green cards.

          4                 These students claimed that they were

          5  being denied federally-guaranteed student loans,

          6  even though their passports indicated that their

          7  adjustment of status had been approved.

          8                 We raised our concerns to CUNY and

          9  received assurances from its Interim University Dean

         10  that CUNY's Financial Aid Directors be encouraged to

         11  remind campus staff that appropriate INS

         12  endorsements are acceptable proof of permanent

         13  resident status.

         14                 Our office recently approached CUNY

         15  again concerning students with pending adjustment of

         16  status cases. All of these students had been paying

         17  out-of-state tuition, which are higher than in-state

         18  residents, and there were reports of students

         19  dropping out because they simply could not afford

         20  the higher tuition fees. Many are waiting for

         21  adjustment of status in excess of two years. All

         22  have cases being delayed at INS through no fault of

         23  their own.

         24                 In conclusion, problems with green

         25  card renewals at the federal level are having an
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          2  impact at the local level here in New York City.

          3  Although we have been able to recommend alternatives

          4  to constituents, such as using the INS' web site, so

          5  that they do not have to wait in long lines, the

          6  wait for permanent green cards is longer than

          7  officially stated. Immigrants need to know that

          8  their Notice of Action forms are extremely important

          9  documents, and all New York City agency staff

         10  members dealing with immigrants need to understand

         11  that these delays do not mean that immigrants are

         12  out of status and that appropriate INS endorsements,

         13  even in expired passports, are proof of permanent

         14  legal residency.

         15                 Finally, all the problems I have

         16  mentioned today have their genesis in the INS

         17  backlog of applications, the Service should continue

         18  to address aggressively the reduction of the current

         19  backlog, so that impact on the local level can be

         20  mitigated.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Tang. Is it possible for us to, at the earliest

         24  convenience, be given a copy, a printed copy of your

         25  testimony?
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          2                 MS. TANG: Yes. In fact, it is

          3  available, Councilman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: I like that new

          5  technology.

          6                 MS. TANG: That is a personal

          7  purchase. The Mayor's Office cannot accommodate such

          8  luxuries.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: We just have a few

         10  questions that we would like to pose to you. The

         11  first is, what has been your role in educating

         12  immigrants in how to deal with INS in relation to

         13  the Green Card Renewal Process?

         14                 MS. TANG: Yes, Councilman, we have

         15  been sending alerts to the community-based

         16  organizations regarding these new green card

         17  renewals. In fact, when we mentioned, when these

         18  press stories began to emerge in July, that is when

         19  we started to be very concerned to see, and we have

         20  been making inquiries with both INS at a national

         21  level and INS in the district level, to make sure if

         22  rather there are some internal procedures they are

         23  following so that we at least could advise our

         24  constituents. And what were given to us were

         25  somewhat sketchy, and before we had anything

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            26

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  written, all we could tell constituents, as I

          3  testified, was to mail it in with the appropriate

          4  fee, and that they should really hold onto the

          5  notice of action because many immigrants do lose

          6  that and so we have been emphatic in advising them

          7  to keep all receipts.

          8                 In terms of further education

          9  programs, any of the immigrants who call us, we do

         10  let them know even though they are just inquiring

         11  about getting a green card in general, or any other

         12  immigration matters. In terms of a general, we have

         13  yet to hear that there are massive numbers of people

         14  being affected. But like I said, the ancillary

         15  problems associated with it is really the

         16  exacerbation of this backlog in causing other delays

         17  that are happening.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: What language have

         19  you been utilizing, and, you know, sending out this

         20  information to people?

         21                 MS. TANG: Manly in English because we

         22  are dealing with the community-based organizations,

         23  Councilman, who deal with immigrants in their own

         24  communities. So that in turn they can use their most

         25  communication with the community in their own
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          2  language.

          3                 Many, as you may know, we testified

          4  before, our main brochures and communications

          5  materials are in several languages, given the parity

          6  and given the representation in the community. They

          7  are in the Diversity Program, for example, and in

          8  the immigration fraught prevention programs. But not

          9  for many of the issues that come by say every month.

         10  We could do our best in terms of alerting the

         11  community-based organizations, because they are

         12  really the closest organizations and agencies and

         13  liaisons to the community members themselves, and

         14  also to the ethnic press.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: In your statement

         16  you alluded that to the plight of our students who

         17  are in the CUNY system. Did you, in addition to

         18  whatever assurances you received from them, did you

         19  also receive an assurance that they would be able to

         20  travel back and forth?

         21                 MS. TANG: In terms of traveling, it

         22  is a separate -- it is not something that students

         23  have raised, for example, but anyone with say a

         24  pending application with INS that needs to travel

         25  needs to apply for events application, and these
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          2  procedures have been written extensively and we are

          3  familiar with them and we could advise them

          4  accordingly.

          5                 But what has been raised to us is

          6  really, number one, that they had a problem with

          7  their student loans, and, number two, that they were

          8  not able to afford the higher tuition, out-of-state

          9  tuition rates.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Given your

         11  experience, do you see the problem getting worse

         12  instead of better?

         13                 MS. TANG: I would say that within the

         14  three years that I have been in the office, the wait

         15  time has definitely been much longer, and even

         16  though there has been additional funds according to

         17  the federal government that have increased INS

         18  budget again, they have raised fees in every single

         19  category.

         20                 We haven't seen a turn-around that

         21  has been faster in the INS processing of these

         22  immigration applications. They may have sped up a

         23  little bit in the naturalization applications, but

         24  that is done at the expense of any other

         25  applications such as the green card.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: You mentioned

          3  staff. Could you update us on the size and

          4  composition of the staff that you have in order to

          5  deal with the --

          6                 MS. TANG: From my office?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes.

          8                 MS. TANG: For example, we have Dr.

          9  Madeline Truss, who is the immigration specialist

         10  working with immigrants and day-to-day their

         11  constituents work -- Susan Livingston of my office

         12  also works with immigrants and she is the general

         13  person that does the intake, as does Dr. Truss,

         14  Natasia Poplov, who is the Deputy Director of the

         15  Office, also heads the Language Services Division

         16  that coordinates all of the interpretation and

         17  translation projects, and we also have staff under

         18  Ms. Poplov that works with her on the language

         19  services.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: So all together

         21  you have about?

         22                 MS. TANG: Five.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: About five, and

         24  they are all permanent?

         25                 MS. TANG: Right.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Do you have any

          3  other support staff in addition to that?

          4                 MS. TANG: We have interns

          5  irregularly, I would say.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Has the INS ever

          7  reached out to your organization in order to inform

          8  you of the process and what steps your clients

          9  should take?

         10                 MS. TANG: I would say that that only

         11  happens if they have an official release. For

         12  example, as of September 8th, that is when they

         13  would have something to release, and they would

         14  usually contact not only my office, but also other

         15  congressional liaisons, other community-based

         16  organizations, to inform them of any new policies or

         17  procedures that they are pursuing.

         18                 But I have to be emphatic in that the

         19  INS district office in New York has been in general

         20  responsive, both the congressional liaison and the

         21  Community Relations Unit. They have been responsive

         22  to what we asked for, and in general in good faith

         23  they try to work on problems you raised, but

         24  sometimes it really goes beyond their ability to set

         25  federal policies, and it is a much more macro issue
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          2  than they can handle.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Has your office

          4  taken proactive steps in order to advise the INS of

          5  the impending backlog and to offer any assistance in

          6  its public outreach campaign?

          7                 MS. TANG: I think that other than our

          8  office there are also a very large group of

          9  immigration immigrant advocates that have been

         10  reminding, and I am sure the INS itself releases

         11  estimates on their own backlog, although it is much

         12  more underestimated, we see waiting times, for

         13  example, that are much longer and we estimate that

         14  there would be much more than they currently

         15  estimate, and we constantly apprise them of the

         16  growing pains of immigrants waiting for the backlog.

         17                 But at the same time, we also know

         18  that to be responsible to our immigrants that we up

         19  front, whenever we are contacted by constituents

         20  that we really inform them of a current backlog so

         21  that they are aware that they are not in an abnormal

         22  or in an aberration in which it would cause them

         23  panic or fears.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Do you have any

         25  knowledge of any client who has gone through
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          2  successfully the process, the renewal process? And

          3  if so, what are the problems that they have shared

          4  with you in going through that process?

          5                 MS. TANG: Councilman, since this is

          6  only beginning to happen, and I think the I-90s are

          7  just beginning to arrive at the INS, I do not

          8  believe that any one of them have been processed

          9  since then, and usually constituents, it is really

         10  their prerogative to let us know whether something

         11  is resolved positively on their behalf, and if we

         12  happen to hear from them it is really wonderful. But

         13  if they don't, we will just have to keep the case

         14  open until we are informed by INS, for example, that

         15  your constituent's case is closed, he is now a

         16  citizen or his green card has been produced.

         17                 Other than those information that we

         18  get from INS, we won't really be hearing from the

         19  immigrant if the constituent chooses not to let us

         20  know.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: It just struck me

         22  awhile ago that there are over 660,000 residents who

         23  are holders of permanent green cards, whose cards

         24  will be up for renewal, is there any problem? Or

         25  have you been doing anything say encouraging those
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          2  who reside in New York that it would be better for

          3  them to apply directly for citizenship and to go

          4  through that process of, you know, applying for a

          5  new green card when at this time they would be

          6  eligible to apply for citizenship?

          7                 MS. TANG: Well, often when we get

          8  phone calls from a constituent inquiring

          9  information, we often let them know any ancillary

         10  and related information, if they are reinquiring

         11  about extending a green card, then we say do you

         12  have the eligible years for citizenship, for

         13  example? Would you like to apply for citizenship?

         14  And we would give them the necessary information or

         15  any other turn of events they may want to pursue.

         16                 In terms of the 600 -- I do want to

         17  mention the 600,000 residents are a national number,

         18  and in the City of New York area we have not

         19  received that many for cause of concern, but when we

         20  do, we do inform them about the history of the

         21  renewal policy, the supposed purpose and objective

         22  behind it and also that there is also the

         23  alternative for citizenship, if they are eligible.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Would you say that

         25  it would be incumbent upon us to share this, be
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          2  proactive in sharing this information with them,

          3  seeing that they may not know the process?

          4                 MS. TANG: I believe that INS, when it

          5  released its statement, that it was sent to all

          6  ethnic press, that it was all sent to

          7  community-based organizations, which we received on

          8  September 8th, and we have also taken initiatives to

          9  let our contacts know about these policies.

         10                 If the City Council has such

         11  communications with the community I would urge so.

         12  But I do find ethnic papers and community-based

         13  organizations to be the most effective words of

         14  mouth in the community.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Since the last

         16  hearing when I think we did pose the same question

         17  to you, in the interim, to what extent have you been

         18  reaching out and utilizing the assistance from

         19  community-based organizations in your program?

         20                 MS. TANG: Well, we have often relied

         21  on our partners in the community.

         22                 As I said, for example, in our

         23  Language Services Unit the division runs and

         24  coordinates programs with the help of about 3,000

         25  volunteers that are City employees that they
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          2  recruit, train, to do translation projects. But

          3  often these are volunteers and these are City

          4  employees that might not be readily available, and

          5  for a number of projects that we have had we have

          6  needed to contact community-based organizations to

          7  help with some of the languages that we couldn't

          8  find volunteers for, and in the case, especially

          9  outreach and education initiatives, we needed to

         10  have partners in those communities to better direct

         11  us what is the best mode of outreach. In some

         12  communities print is best, in some communities

         13  radio, in some communities it is really word of

         14  mouth.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: In terms of

         16  funding and personnel, do you anticipate, you know,

         17  would you say be requesting an increase in funding

         18  for your program to hire additional staff?

         19                 MS. TANG: I haven't received an

         20  invitation to ask that. If I were told that I could,

         21  I would any day. But I also believe there is a

         22  headcount concern that we have to deal with. I do

         23  think that what we are doing with the numbers that

         24  we have is sufficient, and we -- of course we

         25  welcome more, but in the climate of doing more with
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          2  less, we have explored partnerships, we have

          3  explored creative, innovative solutions to do our

          4  work with the current staff and resources we have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: In what way or

          6  ways would you say we have been taking national

          7  leadership in this venture?

          8                 MS. TANG: With regards to the green

          9  card?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Yes. In general.

         11  You know, immigration policy.

         12                 MS. TANG: To start with, there isn't

         13  such a body that is comparable to this body, to the

         14  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs, anywhere else

         15  in the major municipal governments that are

         16  immigrant settlements, like Los Angeles they happen

         17  to have such an office, or Miami for that matter,

         18  those are two of the largest immigrant settlements

         19  in the country, and we have also been consulted by

         20  many other, the City of Boston, the City of

         21  Minnesota, for setting up similar offices because

         22  they have seen the work that we have done.

         23                 So there I think we have preeminence

         24  nationally in terms of leading and the leadership of

         25  promoting immigrant rights.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Additionally, I

          3  think it would be an even greater benefit to us if

          4  we were to make a commercial plug for the

          5  establishment of the new commission on new

          6  Americans, which I think that given the immigrant

          7  population in New York, you know, it is extremely

          8  important that we establish an agency that will deal

          9  specifically with not only what you are doing, but

         10  additionally to advocate on behalf of the

         11  immigrants.

         12                 The 660,000, the national figure that

         13  will be up for the renewal of their green cards, how

         14  many of that would you say, of that number reside in

         15  New York?

         16                 MR. TANG: Well, Councilman, there are

         17  no official estimates that have been released by the

         18  New York District INS. They weren't able to let us

         19  know anything.

         20                 But using the formula, using the

         21  yearly average that we have been receiving, the

         22  national share of immigrant flow, which is 15

         23  percent roughly, so 15 percent of 690,000 or so we

         24  are saying.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Mr. Smith.
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          2                 MR. SMITH: I don't know if you can

          3  answer this question, but perhaps it is an issue

          4  that we need to explore.

          5                 It just appears to me that we are all

          6  in government, you represent the Mayor and the

          7  Administration, we represent the City Council on the

          8  local level, apparently, I mean obviously there is a

          9  problem with the INS, and the problem is with

         10  setting a priority in handling the processing of

         11  applications not only for citizenship but for green

         12  card renewals.

         13                 My point is, what do we do about it?

         14  I mean, do we simply sit here at a hearing and talk

         15  about, well, you know, here is the issue, here is

         16  the problem, are we just going to go along with it

         17  and advise our constituents to deal with it, or to

         18  grin and bear it, or are we going to take

         19  affirmative steps to force the INS or encourage the

         20  congress to act to remedy this problem?

         21                 I mean, I think we need to perhaps

         22  sit down and have a meeting and develop strategies

         23  as to how we can deal with this issue, because the

         24  way I see it, it is totally unacceptable.

         25                 I mean, we have known about the
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          2  backlog for some time, we talk about it, we have

          3  talked about it at other hearings and nothing seems

          4  to be done about it. Obviously the INS is not making

          5  this a priority, and it is something that we really

          6  need to seriously look at and perhaps explore at the

          7  federal level, the congressional level, to get them

          8  to move on this. What are your thoughts on that?

          9                 MS. TANG: Mr. Smith, and Councilman

         10  Henry, as you may know, the Mayor has remained the

         11  national advocate, leading national advocate on this

         12  issue, and ever since 1996 since passage of the

         13  welfare and immigration reform bill is in congress

         14  he has been since pushing for reform at INS to

         15  address this backlog, and many of his addresses on

         16  immigration he has specifically addressed that.

         17                 In addition, in our congressional

         18  agenda that our Washington office issues every year

         19  has been an issue, number one. We have been pushing

         20  for a complete restoration of benefits to immigrants

         21  that were eliminated in 1996. We have also been

         22  pushing for INS, we have been advocating for INS to

         23  address this problem with backlog, and you are

         24  completely right in that the problem resides in the

         25  federal level, as I addressed in my testimony. The
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          2  New York district is very limited in its way to

          3  address issues of lack of resources, funding to

          4  adjudicate the current cases.

          5                 I also believe that currently INS is

          6  going through a lot of reforms here. There are

          7  already three bills in congress regarding the

          8  restructuring of INS, which would introduce a lot of

          9  changes at the agency, and I think that it is not

         10  because they might not have been addressing as a

         11  priority the backlog, it just simply has been too

         12  much for the agency and they have not been able to

         13  handle, which is not an excuse, but is something the

         14  City of New York under the Mayor has constantly

         15  pursued as an issue.

         16                 MR. SMITH: So, you are saying then

         17  that perhaps the legislation that is pending in

         18  congress to reform the INS in some way would be

         19  helpful in dealing with these issues and eliminating

         20  the backlog and just getting them streamlined and up

         21  to speed?

         22                 MS. TANG: It is always a possibility.

         23  Again, the idea that it would happen, but then again

         24  when it comes to implementation of any legislation

         25  we can't really guarantee the speed and the
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          2  expectations --

          3                 MR. SMITH: We being on the

          4  legislative level, we know that. But I just think

          5  that we have to explore all creative options to get

          6  the INS to deal with this issue, because, again, we

          7  come back time and time again and we speak of the

          8  backlog and we speak of the number of applications

          9  that are pending, and it is really unacceptable to

         10  continue along this route. And I think you would

         11  agree with that, I am sure the Mayor agrees with it,

         12  but we have got to keep the pressure on and see if

         13  we can solve this thing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: We would like to

         15  applaud the Mayor and his Administration, by

         16  extension your administration, for the work that you

         17  have been doing so far on behalf of immigrants in

         18  New York City. But I do know that irrespective of

         19  what we have all been doing, there is still a

         20  problem, and, you know, we are the only ones who can

         21  really advocate on their behalf because often times

         22  they are afraid to come forward, they are afraid to

         23  be identified, singled out, and you know the myriad

         24  of problems that they face even here in New York

         25  City which is a concern. So we continue to make a
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          2  plug for them.

          3                 Once again, if there is no other

          4  questions?

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No, there are

          6  no other questions.

          7                 I really would like to thank Ms. Tang

          8  for a very eloquent and very comprehensive

          9  presentation of the City's position on this matter,

         10  which is entirely consistent with ours, and I would

         11  imagine that unfortunately since the INS is not

         12  here, we would want to find out whether there are

         13  any other persons in the audience who are here to

         14  testify?

         15                 If there are not, then we would of

         16  course entertain questions from members of the media

         17  who might be interested in this issue, and who might

         18  want to have a further elaboration of our position

         19  on these questions?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Firstly I would

         21  like to excuse Ms. Tang and her staff.

         22                 Al, thank you, as usual.

         23                 We would like again to thank you for

         24  your testimony.

         25                 MR. TANG: Councilman Henry, on behalf
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          2  of the office and our staff, I would like to thank

          3  you for your continued support and your concerns to

          4  this issue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Thank you.

          6                 Seeing that there are no other

          7  testimony, it is not really the norm for us to

          8  entertain questions from the audience or the media,

          9  but I think that this would be a fitting forum for

         10  us to really use to air some of our views and

         11  concerns and have a back and forth free-for-all and

         12  discussion where do we go from here.

         13                 I know the media has some burning

         14  questions it would like to ask.

         15                 Could you firstly identify yourself?

         16                 (Question is asked from the audience

         17  and not using a microphone.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: All right, I am

         19  receiving some counsel from our counsel on this

         20  procedure, and I am being advised that we should be

         21  doing this off the record.

         22                 So the formal hearing has been

         23  brought to an end, and we will reconvene as an

         24  informal informative body who will be sharing our

         25  views.
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          2                 The meeting is adjourned, the formal

          3  meeting.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 11:15 a.m.)
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